
1 

City of Cedar Key 
Special Commission Meeting - 2025-2026 Budget Minutes 

July 22, 2025      
5:00 p.m. 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE AND BE ADVISED that if any interested person desires to appeal any 
decision of the Cedar Key Commission concerning any matter considered at this meeting, such 
interested person will need a record of the proceeding and, for such purpose, may need to 
ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 
and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. Persons with disabilities requiring 
accommodation to participate in the meeting should contact the City Clerk at (352) 543-5132 at 
least 48 hours in advance to request accommodation. 

Special Commission Meeting - 2025-2026 Budget Meeting 

1.) Call to Order by Mayor Webb.  

2.) Roll Call: 
Jolie Davis, Commissioner Seat 1 Nancy Sera, Commissioner Seat 2 
Jim Wortham, Commissioner Seat 3 Jeff Webb, Commissioner Seat 4 
Sue Colson, Commissioner Seat 5 

3.) FY2025-26 Budget worksheet(s) – review/discussion. 

❖ Commissioner Salaries: Mayor/Commissioner Webb, Commissioner Wortham,
and Commissioner Beckham voluntarily chose not to take their salary for the
2025-2026 budget year.

❖ COLA Adjustment: 2.5% Cost of Living Increase for all the City staff, with 3
Commissioners in support of the increase.

❖ Health Insurance: Shifted from 100% City-funded to an 80/20 split, where
employees will pay 20%.

❖ Public Works: Cut their operating supplies by $1,000.00

❖ Police Department: Kept current full-time staffing, made cuts to supplies,
overtime, and maintenance; incentive pay adjusted.

❖ Fire Department: Put large equipment purchases on hold, relying on reserves if
needed.



2 
 

 

❖ Building Department: There was discussion about reviewing and potentially 
increasing permit fees so that they more accurately cover inspection and 
administrative costs. 

 

❖ Added a Budget Line of $1,000.00 to help pay for City events, with 3 
Commissioners in support. 

 

❖ Commissioners discussed increasing the daily launch pass, non-resident launch 
passes, and monthly rental rates for the marina. The Commission discussed 
discontinuing monthly boat slip rentals and offering slips for daily and weekend 
rentals, with rates to be established based on each slip’s location. 

 

 
 
4). Millage Rate(s) - review/discussion. 
 

❖ Commissioners set the Preliminary Millage Rate at 5.4%. Motion by 
Commissioner Davis to set the Preliminary Millage Rate at 5.4% Seconded by 
Commissioner Wortham. Motion Carries Unanimously. 
 

 
 
 
Adjourned at 6:58 p.m. 
 
 

 

 

___________________________________   ______________________________ 

Mayor Webb/Commissioner                   Attest, Prepared by Heather Lang 



1 
 

City of Cedar Key 
Commission Workshop Minutes 

July 29, 2025                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
5:00 p.m. 

 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE AND BE ADVISED that if any interested person desires to appeal any 
decision of the Cedar Key Commission concerning any matter considered at this meeting, such 
interested person will need a record of the proceeding and, for such purpose, may need to 
ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 
and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. Persons with disabilities requiring 
accommodations to participate in the meeting should contact the City Clerk at (352) 543-5132 
at least 48 hours in advance to request accommodations. 
  
Commission Workshop 
 

1.) Call to Order   
 
2.) Review of why we are holding this workshop, ethical duties, and relevant focus issues 

 

3.) Identify department problems and challenges needing to be addressed in both 
departments. Jennifer Sylvester, Building Clerk and Interim Clerk, has requested that she 
not continue in her role as Interim Clerk. 

 
4.) Review of Building Department issues identified in the workshop and previously 

identified Clerk Department issues. The Commission reviewed ongoing problems in the 
Building Department, including delayed permits, citizen communication, and a lack of 
automation. The Commissioners compared Cedar Key’s permitting process to that of 
other Florida municipalities' post-hurricane recovery efforts, and Automation and 
software-based permit tracking were discussed as potential solutions. 

 
5.) Commission Concerns **Bring to workshop or provide ahead of time  

 

6.) Quick look at duties and responsibilities per employee with the New Clerk hire to gain 
perspective. Several commissioners emphasized the need for mandatory QuickBooks 
and clerk certification training, which was previously budgeted but not completed.Staff 
training should occur during work hours and be treated as part of professional 
development and cross-training was identified as critical for continuity of service during 
absences or emergencies. Discussed employees paying a percentage of their insurance. 

 
7.) Automation Discussion: CivicPlus automation software was proposed for permit 

management, record access, and citizen transparency the first-year cost: $21,450; 



2 
 

subsequent annual cost: $11,963 (for licensing and support). The system includes staff 
training, data migration, and ongoing technical support. 
 

 
8.) Public Comment **Available throughout the workshop. Public comments, 

Commissioners discussed. 
 
 

Adjourned at 7:00 p.m. 

 

 

 

___________________________________   ______________________________ 

Mayor Webb/Commissioner                   Attest, Prepared by Heather Lang 

 
 
 
 



1 
 

City of Cedar Key 
Special Commission Meeting – FY2025-2026 Budget Minutes 

August 12, 2025                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
5:00 p.m. 

 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE AND BE ADVISED that if any interested person desires to appeal any 
decision of the Cedar Key Commission concerning any matter considered at this meeting, such 
interested person will need a record of the proceeding and, for such purpose, may need to 
ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 
and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. Persons with disabilities requiring 
accommodations to participate in the meeting should contact the City Clerk at (352) 543-5132 
at least 48 hours in advance to request accommodations. 
  
Special Commission Meeting – FY2025-2026 
 
1.) Call to Order/Roll Call: 
  Jolie Davis   Nancy Sera, Commissioner Seat 2 
  Jim Wortham, not present Jeff Webb, Commissioner Seat 4 
  Mel Beckham 
 
2.) Pledge of Allegiance 
 
3.) FY2025-26 Budget worksheet(s) – review/discussion.  
 
Admin IT, Line Item 513.520 - Commissioners unanimously agreed to add $5,000.00 for new 
computers.  
 
Executive Finance, Line Item 513.000 – Commissioners discussed the employees paying a 
portion of their health insurance and COLA increases.  
 
Commissioner Davis requested a 4% raise for Public Works.  
 
The Commissioners discussed the Clerk’s vehicle insurance 
 

❖ Commissioner Webb Motioned to do a 5% Cost Share with a 2.5% Cost of Living 
Increase. Seconded by Commissioner Beckham.    
 

Roll Call Vote:  
 

Commissioner Sera: Yes 
Commissioner Webb: Yes 
Commissioner Beckham: Yes 
Commissioner Davis: No 



2 
 

 
❖ Commissioner Davis Motioned to give a 4% Raise to Public Works Department. 

Seconded by Commissioner Webb. Motion Carries Unanimously. 
 
❖ Commissioner Davis Motioned That the City Approve Payment of the Second Half of 

the Website Redesign Cost in the Approximate Amount of $1,800.00. Seconded By 
Commissioner Sera. Motion Carries Unanimously. 
 

❖ Commissioner Davis Motioned to Use the Existing Clerk Training Funds for QuickBooks 
Certification for Heather Lang. Seconded by Commissioner Sera. Motion Carried 
Unanimously. 
 

 
4.) Millage Rate(s) - review/discussion: Commissioners discussed the Millage Rate and set the 
approximate Millage Rate at 4.7690%  
 
5.) Action Item: Decision on City Clerk Position – Michael Teninty:  
 
The Commission continued deliberations on appointing a new City Clerk, focusing on finalist 
Michael Teninty.  
 
Commissioners discussed his extraordinary skills, leadership experience, policy background,  
very hard work ethic, professionalism, ability to function at an extremely high level, and 
communication skills. He will soon be certified as a clerk, making him an exceptional candidate. 
His military service was noted as a foundation for respect and team management. 
 
Despite his strengths, concerns were raised about his limited financial experience, particularly 
in accounting, which is central to the Clerk's role. Two Commissioners said they would hire him 
for their own businesses; one Commissioner described him as a high-level player but expressed 
hesitation due to the position’s demands; and if he does move here, they could potentially 
make the shift. 
 
Public comment questioned whether the position should offer higher pay to attract candidates, 
emphasized the need for strong financial leadership, and suggested considering Michael for the 
upcoming Building and Planning position. The public also noted that Michael’s described 
qualities align more with a City Manager role—someone who liaises with the Commission, 
departments, and the public to maintain leadership and engagement. 
 
Commissioners also discussed the other top candidate, Laura Roberts. 
 
Following a lengthy discussion, the Commission agreed to: 
 

• Defer a final hiring decision until the next regular Commission meeting. 



3 
 

• Allow Mayor Jeff to follow up directly with Michael to speak with him, provide better 
feedback based on this conversation, and bring this back for formal action at next 
week’s Commission meeting. 

• Reconsider other finalists, including Laura Roberts, for possible re-interview. 
• Revisit whether the role or pay scale should be adjusted to attract more financially 

experienced candidates. 
 
 
 
Adjourned at 6:58 p.m. 
 
 

 

___________________________________   ______________________________ 

Mayor Webb/Commissioner                   Attest, Prepared by Heather Lang 

 

 



1 
 

City of Cedar Key 
 Commission Meeting  

August 19, 2025                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
5:00 p.m. 

 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE AND BE ADVISED that if any interested person desires to appeal any 
decision of the Cedar Key Commission concerning any matter considered at this meeting, such 
interested person will need a record of the proceeding and, for such purpose, may need to 
ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 
and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. Persons with disabilities requiring 
accommodation to participate in the meeting should contact the City Clerk at (352) 543-5132 at 
least 48 hours in advance to request accommodation. 
 
  
Commission Meeting  

 

1. Call to Order 

 • Invocation  

• Pledge of Allegiance  

• Roll Call:  

Jolie Davis, Commissioner Seat 1   Nancy Sera, Commissioner Seat 2                      

Jim Wortham, Commissioner Seat 3   Jeff Webb, Commissioner Seat 4                       

Mel Beckham, Commissioner Seat 5 

 

2. ACTION ITEM: Approval of the Meeting Agenda as presented:  

 

❖ Commissioner Davis Motioned to Approve the Agenda as Presented. Seconded 

by Commissioner Sera. Motion Carries Unanimously. 

 

3. ACTION ITEM: Consent Agenda: N/A 

 

4. Public Comment: Commendation for Fire Chief Robert Robinson from City resident, Scott 

Wright, regarding an event that Chief Robert responded to that occurred after 10 p.m. 

 

5. Cedar Key Water & Sewer District: General Manager's Report – John Rittenhouse 

 



2 
 

6.  Non-Government Organizations 

 

• Lion’s Club:  Robert Belair, President, Susan Rosenthal, Chair-Person for the Seafood 

Festival  

• Cedar Key Woman’s Club:   No remarks 

• Chamber of Commerce: Adam Stites 

• Cedar Key Aquaculture Assoc.: No remarks 

• Nature Coast Biological Station/NCBS: No remarks 

• Cedar Key Arts Center: No remarks 

• Cedar Key Non-Profit Organizations: No remarks 

• Friends of the Lower Suwannee and Cedar Key National Wildlife Refuge – Tara Barney  

 

7. Discussion: Mayor’s Notes/Actions: Monthly Activities.  

 

• Monthly Activities 

• DRAFT Strategic Development Initiatives for Federal Assistance 

• US Army Corps of Engineering – DRAFT High Water Mark Signs 

 

8. Discussion: City Clerk Position: The Commission discussed making a decision on the two 

candidates or reopening the position. The Commission noted that they always have the 

option to extend the 90-day probationary period, and that Florida is a right-to-work 

state; there is no contract, and they can fire someone on any day at any time. Public 

comments. 

 

❖ Commissioner Sera Motioned to Hire Laura Roberts for the City Clerk Position 

with a 90-Day Probation and Evaluation. Seconded by Commissioner Webb.  

 

Roll Call Vote:  

 Commissioner Sera: Yes 

 Commissioner Webb: Yes 

 Commissioner Beckham: No 

 Commissioner Wortham: Yes 

 Commissioner Davis: No 

 

9. ACTION ITEM: Approval of Waiving the Permit Fees for Arts and Seafood Festivals Fees: 

Commissioners' discussion. 

 

❖ Commissioner Webb Motioned to Waive the Permit Fees from the City for the 

Seafood and Arts Festivals, Until the Commission Chooses to Change Them in 

the Future. Seconded by Commissioner Beckham. Motion Carries Unanimously. 



3 
 

 

10. ACTION ITEM: Approval of Revised Mayor Duties – Resolution 493 

 

❖ Commissioner Davis Motioned to Pass the Revised Mayor Duties, Resolution 

493 as Written Now. Seconded by Commissioner Wortham. Motion Carries 

Unanimously. 

 

11. ACTION ITEM: Approval of Cedar Key Department of Emergency Management: 

Evacuation, Bridge Closures, Re-Entry Procedures, Safety Personnel, and Re-Entry Team 

Responsibilities and Duties. Commissioners Discuss. Public Comments. 

 

❖ Commissioner Davis Motioned to Pass the Department of Emergency 

Management: Evacuation, Bridge Closures, Re-Entry Procedures, Safety 

Personnel, and Re-Entry Team Responsibilities and Duties as Written. Seconded 

by Commissioner Sera. Motion Carries Unanimously. 

 

12. Discussion: Final Review of Cedar Key Police Department Pre-Storm & Post-Storm 

Responsibilities and Duties. Commissioners Discuss. Public comments. The Commission 

will bring this back as an Action Item. 

 

13. Discussion: Commissioner Beckham and Tara Barney – Economic Development Plan 

Update presented by Tara Barney. Commissioners discussed.  

 

14. Important Dates:  

 

o August 26, 2025 – Commission Budget Meeting and CRA Budget Meeting 

o August 27, 2025 – CDBG Grant Meeting  

o 09-03-2025 - CDBG Grant Meeting 

o September 10, 2025 – Tentative Final Budget and Tentative Millage Rate (5:01 

p.m.) 

o September 16, 2025 – Regular Commission Meeting (5 p.m.) 

o September 20, 2025 – Coastal Clean-up 

o September 24, 2025 – Final Budget and Millage Rate (5:01 p.m.) 

 

15. Attorney Items 

 

➢ Second Reading – Ordinance 559, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CEDAR KEY, 

FLORIDA, PURSUANT TO PETITION NO. ANX 25-02, RELATING TO VOLUNTARY 

ANNEXATION; MAKING FINDINGS; ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED 



4 
 

IN LEVY COUNTY, FLORIDA; PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; REPEALING ALL 

ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

❖ Commissioner Davis Motioned to Approve Ordinance 559 as read. Seconded by 

Commissioner Wortham. Discussion. Motion Carries Unanimously. 

 

➢ ACTION ITEM: 2026 Election Proposal, Levy County Supervisor of Elections: 

Ordinance No. 560, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CEDAR KEY, FLORIDA 

AMENDING PROVISIONS RELATING TO ELECTIONS AS CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 2 

OF THE LAWS OF CEDAR KEY; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

❖ Commissioner Davis Motioned to Approve Ordinance No. 560. Seconded by 

Commissioner Wortham. Motion Carries Unanimously. 

 

➢ ACTION ITEM: Approval of Joinder Option Agreements (Gulf Avenue Project) 

 

o Giles Option Agreement 

o HR Option Agreement 

o Grant Agreement – Development and Maintenance  

 

❖ Commissioner Davis Motioned to Approve the Two Joinder Agreements. 

Seconded by Commissioner Webb. Discussion. Motion Carries Unanimously. 

 

16. Clerk’s Office and Administration:    

o Request for Annexation – Bryan & Darlene Skarupski (13351 SW Airport 

Rd). The commission gave its consensus to proceed. 

o Update - Dixie County Interlocal Agreement for Fire Inspection Services, 

working on Interlocal with Williston. 

 

17. Public Works: No remarks. 

 

18. Public Safety:  

 

▪ Fire Department/Emergency Management – No remarks. 

 

▪ Police Department – Edwin Jenkins said that the Alachua County 

Sheriff’s Department has donated a vehicle to replace our vehicle 

that was totaled in a wreck.  

 



5 
 

❖ Commissioner Wortham Motioned to Approve the Acceptance of the Donated 

Vehicle from Alachua County. Seconded by Commissioner Beckham. Motion 

Carries Unanimously. 

 

19. Discussion: Commissioner Focus Areas:  

 

o Environmental and Shoreline Restoration/Protection – Commissioner 

Wortham discussed his meetings and an update on the grants. 

o City Processes and Process Improvement – Jolie Davis discussed CivicPlus. 

o Financial and Economic Development – Commissioner Beckham discussed 

the properties identified as unsafe and/or with code violations and the 

enforcement options and cost to utilize JPI. 

o Public Relations and Community Engagement – Commissioner Sera discussed 

her status with meeting with the other businesses on Dock Street and plan 

the festival. 

 

20. Discussion: Commissioners Concerns/Information: 

 

 

Adjourned at 7:20 p.m. 
 
 

 

 

___________________________________   ______________________________ 

Mayor Webb/Commissioner                   Attest, Prepared by Heather Lang 

 

 

 



1 
 

City of Cedar Key 
 Special Commission Meeting FY 2025-2026 Budget 

August 26, 2025                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
5:00 p.m. 

 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE AND BE ADVISED that if any interested person desires to appeal any 
decision of the Cedar Key Commission concerning any matter considered at this meeting, such 
interested person will need a record of the proceeding and, for such purpose, may need to 
ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 
and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. Persons with disabilities requiring 
accommodation to participate in the meeting should contact the City Clerk at (352) 543-5132 at 
least 48 hours in advance to request accommodation. 
 
  
Special Commission Meeting FY 2025-2026 Budget 
 

 

1. Call to Order 

 • Roll Call:  

Jolie Davis, Commissioner Seat 1    Nancy Sera, Commissioner Seat 2                      

Jim Wortham, Commissioner  – Not present  Jeff Webb, Commissioner Seat 4                       

Mel Beckham, Commissioner Seat 5 

 

2. FY2025-26 Budget worksheet(s) – review/discussion. Commissioners discussed. Public 

comments. Three of the Commissioners chose to eliminate their salaries for the year to 

balance the budget. The City has a $26,000 surplus, and it was recommended that the 

Commissioners revoke the elimination of their salaries and restore them to their 

previous rates for Commissioners Webb, Beckham, and Wortham (not present).   

 

3. Millage Rate(s) - review/discussion. Ad Valorem Tax is based on a millage rate of 4.7684. 

 

4. Meetings: 

 

• 08/27/2025 CDBG DR Grant Meeting 

• 09/10/2025 Tentative Final Budget & Millage Hearing 

• 09/10/2025 Community Redevelopment Agency Meeting (CRA) 

• 09/24/2025 Final Budget and Millage Rate Hearing 



2 
 

Adjourned at 5:26 p.m. 
 
 

 

 

___________________________________   ______________________________ 

Mayor Webb/Commissioner                   Attest, Prepared by Heather Lang 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CKWSD General Manager's Report 11.10.25 

FRWA Asset Management/Rate Study Presentation: Representatives from the 
Florida Rural Water Association will present Asset Management Plans for our water 
and sewer systems along with a Rate Study conducted during the same process. I 
have attached replacement pages 19, 20, and 21 in the water plan and replacement 
pages for the financials located at the end of both plans (they are the same for both). 
The numbers in the financials reflect a more positive outlook than previously after I 
was able to show FRWA we were not in the red for FY2025. I have also attached 
resolutions for the both plans. 
2026 Legislative Request: As we discussed at the previous Board meeting, I am 
recommending our 2026 Legislative Request be a utilitarian building erected at our 
Well Site. We have multiple grant requests for the reconstruction/rehabilitation of both 
water and sewer plants, so I think we should consider future possibilities in relation to 
the W3C. If the W3C brings a potable water pipeline to CKWSD, a 2400 SF building 
could house repumping and chlorination equipment. If the pipeline is not achieved, 
the building could be a starting point for us to develop some type of water treatment 
facility out of the flood zone. If nothing else, we could build in a small temporary office 
and house capitalized equipment we and our mutual aid partners need during storm 
recovery. The attached building example is a building designed by Mittauer to house 
the water plant at Fowlers Bluff. The Opinion of Probable Cost from CPH Engineers 
is $1,770,000.00. This amount includes a 30% contingency due to the volatility in 
construction bids. 

FDEP LPA0260 Lift Station Rehabilitation Grant Phases II: I had intended to 
present a proposal to advertise for bid Phase II at this meeting but I am going to pull it 
until the 17th. Some of the figures are higher than expected and I want to make sure I 
can explain it to you properly. I will also need to get with Commerce because we may 
be pulling funds from two different pots. 

Florida Commerce L0283 Lift Station Rehabilitation Grant Phase III: We are at 
the 60% design mark. I am going to slow this phase down a little until I see what 
Phase II will cost. 

Water Tower Painting Update: Project is complete. We are working with the 
contractor to remove the overspray on cars parked at the school. A professional 
“overspray elimination team” is scheduled to arrive Saturday, November 8th. 

Nextower Water Tower Lease Proposal: The owner of Nextower contacted me with 
a verbal proposal to bring other telephone communications companies on to the 
Water Tower. Under the proposal, Nextower would be the leasing agent for the tower 
and will bring in other telephone providers. As you know, our current Nextower 
contract does not allow other communication companies to co-locate on the tower. 
Under the verbal proposal, Nextower will relinquish it’s no compete clause in order to 
receive the right to share rental income with the District. It’s a little hard to explain in 
writing. 



Financial Reports: October marked the first month of the Fiscal Year and based 
on easy math, we should be at 8.3% of budget. Water and sewer revenue came 
in a tad lower at 8% of budget. Obviously, we have not received collected Ad 
Valorem taxes yet. Expense wise, you can see a couple of items are above 
budget because we made the purchase in one installment. These numbers 
should reflect more evenly over time. Payroll came in at 9.4% due to 5 pay 
periods in October. 

Waccasassa Water and Wastewater Cooperative Report: I have attached a 
markup for the Implementation Agreement submitted by Commissioner Ferguson. 
You should have some companion documents from Evan also. 

Bill Adjustment Requests: We have one Bill Adjustment Request and it meets 
the Board's criteria. We also a request attached from a customer designated as a 
Large User asking to be changed to a Small User. 

 

 



City of Cedar Key 
Commission Meeting  
Agenda/Action Item 

 

 
Submitted By: Nancy Sera 
 
Meeting Date: 11/18/2025 

 
Subject: Dock Street Christmas Festival 
 
Discussion: Approvals to close Dock Street, No Fee, Open Container,    
                     and plan specifics,  
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
Attachments: Cedar Key Law 2.02.06 Open Container, Event Form and  
                          Flyer 
 
Possible Commission Action: Approval of Festival, Closing of Street,   
                                                      No Fee, Plan specifics 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 









City of Cedar Key 

Commission Meeting  

Agenda/Action Item 
 

 

Submitted By: JR Sellars (CK Bakery) 
 
Meeting Date: Tuesday November 18, 2025 

 
Subject: Retaining Wall Artwork 
 
Discussion: Artist’s design drafts for possible consideration. 
 
Fiscal Impact:  
 
Attachments: Design drafts for consideration. 
 
Possible Commission Action: Approval for further consideration of 
artwork being installed on retaining wall. 
 
 











City of Cedar Key 
Commission Meeting  
Agenda/Action Item 

 

 
Submitted By: Nick Roney 
 
Meeting Date: Tuesday November 18, 2025 

 
Subject: Taking over lease for Inner Deck A and Marina Slip # 23 
 
Discussion: Purchasing Cedar Key Boat Rentals and Island Tours 
 
Fiscal Impact: The current rate for Deck A, of $285.00 will continue 

      through January 27, 2026.  Should the lease conclude  
      prior to that date, the rate will adjust to $327.81 per  
      month effective November 1, 2025. 

 
Attachments:  
 
Possible Commission Action: Approval for assumption of lease and slip 
 
 



























City of Cedar Key 

Commission Meeting  

Agenda/Action Item 
 

 

Submitted By: Jeff Webb 
 
Meeting Date: Tuesday November 18, 2025 

 
Subject: Community Planning and Technical Assistance (CPTA) Grant 
award and Request for Qualifications (RFQ) 
 
 
Discussion: City of Cedar Key has been awarded $75,000 for planning 
and technical assistance to “advance shoreline and infrastructure 
protection.” 
 
Fiscal Impact: None – this grant requires no matching funds 
 
Attachments: Application Letter and Statement of Work 
 
Possible Commission Action: Approval of acceptance of the CPTA grant 
money ($75,000) and the release of an RFQ for contractor planning and 
technical assistance support  
 
 





Grant Award 

Community Planning and Technical Assistance (CPTA) 

Grant Value: $75,000 

Marina Resiliency & Shoreline Protection Planning Study 

 

Scope of Work: 

 

TASK I: Report, Compile and Consolidate: Existing Infrastructure 

Conditions, Site Survey Reviews, Stakeholder Interviews and Inner 

Marina Use Study  

 

TASK II: Alternatives Analysis & Prioritization: Inner Marina, Shoreline 

Protection and Wave Energy Attenuation 

 

TASK III: Inner Marina Modernization and Use Enhancement Scenarios 

(pictures/renderings): Feasibility Study 

 

TASK IV: Dock Street Economic Resiliency Roadmap: Identify existing 

and potential funding, potential barriers or obstacles, Environmental 

permitting, and provide Cost Analysis 

 

TASK V: Draft and Final Strategic Plan: Resolution adoption by City 

Commission 

 



City of Cedar Key 

Commission Meeting  

Agenda/Action Item 
 

 

Submitted By: Jeff Webb 
 
Meeting Date: Tuesday November 18, 2025 

 
Subject: Energy Technology Innovation Partnership Project (ETIPP) RFP 

and subcontract coordination 
 
Discussion: City of Cedar Key has been selected to receive strategic 
energy planning (SEP) in the fifth cohort of the Energy Technology 
Innovation Partnership Project (ETIPP). The strategic energy planning 
track of ETIPP will support community engagement and development of 
near-, mid-, and long-term energy objectives and actions, as well as the 
underpinning analysis needed to discern your priorities. The ETIPP team 
estimates the strategic energy planning effort will take approximately 
six (6) to eight (8) months from the start date.  
 
The Strategic Energy Planning Track is designed for communities to 
follow a streamlined process that results in a roadmap outlining near- 
and long-term energy goals. The resulting plan and goals will be 
informed by ongoing engagement, workshops, and meetings with 
partners and community representatives. Each ETIPP community in the 
Strategic Energy Planning Track is provided funding to help support 
participation in meetings, provide informed feedback, support 
community member participation in technical assistance, procure 
consultant support, and/or buy equipment or infrastructure to work 
toward a final Strategic Energy Plan. 
 



Fiscal Impact: Study will fund $20,000 to support study.  Can be applied 
to employee or a contracted individual(s) (1099) 
 
Attachments: Request for Proposal (RFP) No. RFP-2026-10040 for 
“ETIPP Cohort 5 Strategic Energy Planning Track Community Support”  
and Appendix A Statement of Work (SOW) 
 
Possible Commission Action: Approval to respond to Request for 
Proposal (RFP) No. RFP-2026-10040 for “ETIPP Cohort 5 Strategic 
Energy Planning Track Community Support” and accept subcontract 
($20,000) to participate in study (See Statement of Work for details) 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 

Reference Guide II-006, Exhibit E (09/30/2020) 

  

November 6, 2025 
 
 
 
 
Jeffrey G. Webb 
City of Cedar Key   
jwebb@cedarkeyfl.us 
 
Subject:  Request for Proposal (RFP) No. RFP-2026-10040 for “ETIPP Cohort 5 Strategic 
Energy Planning Track Community Support” 
 
Dear Jeffrey: 
 
The National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) invites your submission of a proposal for the 
subject project in accordance with the requirements and conditions contained in this RFP. It is 
intended that a firm fixed price type subcontract with a period of performance of execution 
through 10/31/26 will be awarded based on your response to this RFP.    
 
Please read the following requirements carefully and be sure to include all documents as 
listed below when submitting your proposal. Unless otherwise indicated, all necessary 
forms and documents are available to download from NREL’s website at the following 
addresses:  

https://www.nrel.gov/workingwithus/forms.html 
https://www.nrel.gov/workingwithus/standard-terms.html 

 
• The NAICS code for this subcontract is 541990. Small business size standard is $19.5M 

annual revenue. 

• Indicate either your acceptance, or state any change with reason, of the attached 
Appendix A - Statement of Work, dated 09/30/25, and sample subcontract. 

• Indicate your acceptance of Appendices B-7 and C-3. 

• Indicate your acceptance of the period of performance listed above.  

• Complete and return a “Fully Burdened Labor Rate and Expense Proposal Form”.  In 
accordance with the instructions on the MS Excel form (see tabs), please be sure to 
provide a breakout of your price/cost proposal by task to include labor hours, labor rates, 
a list of materials and equipment, basis of estimate/assumptions for proposed travel, etc. 
Also include documentation to support all elements of your proposed price/cost, such as 
quotes from vendors (or past invoices or purchase orders for similar items) for material 
and equipment, screen shots of airfare and other travel related quotes, proposals from 
lower-tier subcontractors, audit reports, etc.  
To support your proposed fully burdened labor rates, include documentation such 
as a published rate list or at least three copies of invoices to clients other than 
NREL. Redactions are acceptable to protect client confidentiality. The backup invoices 

https://www.nrel.gov/workingwithus/forms.html
https://www.nrel.gov/workingwithus/standard-terms.html


Page 2 of 3 
RFx No. RFP-2026-10040 
 

 

must reflect the same or higher rates than those being proposed. If the labor categories 
being proposed are identified differently in the backup invoices, a brief explanation of the 
correlation should be included in the response.   
Separate lower-tier subcontractors’ proposals must be submitted and must include the 
same level of detail as required for the primary subcontractor.  

• Provide a proposed payment schedule for deliverables, taking into consideration the level 
of effort, and other costs associated with each deliverable.  

• Provide completed, signed and dated Representations and Certifications for 
Subcontracts.  Please review the instructions and prescriptions on the appropriate form 
carefully to ensure the forms are accurately completed.  If you have any questions on the 
appropriate responses, consult your firm’s legal counsel. 
 

• In accordance with the “Instructions for Completion of Organizational Conflicts of Interest 
Statement—Disclosure or Representation Statement”, complete EITHER the 
"Organizational Conflicts of Interest Representation Statement" if no conflicts of interest 
are anticipated and no disclosures are necessary (i.e. all four boxes can be checked on 
the form) OR the "Organizational Conflicts of Interest Disclosure Statement," if you are 
aware of a potential conflict of interest and/or all four boxes cannot be checked on the 
“Organizational Conflicts of Interest Representation Statement”, as applicable.  If 
submitting the "Organizational Conflicts of Interest Disclosure Statement," complete the 
form by including details on the potential conflict. 
 

• It is NREL’s standard practice to make all payments to domestic subcontractors via 
electronic (ACH) payments or to international subcontractors via wire transfers. If your 
firm hasn’t submitted banking information to NREL for electronic payments previously or 
there have been changes since the information was submitted, please complete and 
submit the attached “Request for Automated Clearing House (ACH)/Wire Banking 
Information” (form F1392-E) and send as a separate attachment* with your proposal 
documents. Payments to subcontractors will be deposited directly into the subcontractor’s 
designated bank account in accordance with the banking account/wire transfer 
information provided by an authorized company representative. 
 

• If your firm has never done business with NREL, please submit an IRS W-9 Form (W-8 
Form for foreign subcontractors) as a separate attachment* with your proposal.    

 
*Do not combine these documents in a single PDF file with the other proposal submission 
documents.  These documents must be treated as personally identifiable information and 
controlled separately from solicitation and other procurement file documents. 
 

The following provisions apply to this RFx: 
 

• Prohibition on use of certain telecommunications and video surveillance services 
or equipment per the John S. McCain National Defense Authorization Act Section 
889(a)(1)(B): 
 
In accordance with the John S. McCain National Defense Authorization Act Section 
889(a)(1)(B), NREL is prohibited from contracting with any offeror that uses, and/or 



Page 3 of 3 
RFx No. RFP-2026-10040 
 

 

whose lower-tier subcontractor(s) use, covered telecommunication equipment or services 
as a substantial or essential component of any system, or as a critical technology of any 
system, on or after 08/13/2020, unless an exception applies or a waiver is granted.  This 
includes such equipment or services from five Chinese companies: Huawei, ZTE 
Corporation, Hytera Communications, Hangzhou Hikvision, and Dahua 
Technology. 
 

• Compliance with Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act (found at 29 U.S.C. 794d) 
 
The requirements of Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act apply to NREL’s procurement 
of all electronic and information technology (EIT) and any development, maintenance, or 
use of EIT.   

 
Please email your proposal to me by 11/14/25 to the following email address:  
dana.sack@nrel.gov.  Should you have any questions, please contact me via e-mail. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Dana Sack 
Subcontract Administrator 
 
Ecopy:  Kelly O’Toole-Leonard, NREL Technical Monitor 
 

mailto:dana.sack@nrel.gov


APPENDIX A 

STATEMENT OF WORK 
“ETIPP Cohort 5 Strategic Energy Planning Track Community Support" 

September 30, 2025 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

NREL is the U.S. Department of Energy’s primary national laboratory for energy systems research 
and development. As the energy systems laboratory, NREL’s unique strength lies in developing 
and integrating a broad array of energy technologies into robust, resilient systems - bridging 
foundational research with practical applications to lower energy costs, drive economic growth, 
bolster national security, and deliver abundant and reliable energy. 

The Energy Technology Innovation (ETI) initiative, led by the DOE, offers technical assistance, 
planning resources, tools, and training to help communities within the U.S. and its territories 
achieve energy goals related to local resource reliance; institutional, social, and economic 
resilience; enhanced institutional capacity, and lower energy costs. Through ETI, the DOE and its 
partners work with government entities and other stakeholders to support energy growth for 
island and remote communities through partnerships and collaboration. ETI serves as an umbrella 
program that provides research to support the Energy Technology Innovation Partnership Project 
(ETIPP). NREL is the administrator of this program across DOE Office of Energy Efficiency and 
Renewable Energy (EERE) technology programs. NREL provides overall programmatic structure, 
implementation, and interaction with the DOE. 

ETIPP is a congressionally mandated, community-led technical support program for remote 
coastal and island communities to develop more affordable, reliable, and secure energy systems 
through strategic energy planning and deep-dive technical assistance. There are two different 
ETIPP tracks communities may follow: Strategic Energy Planning and Technical Deep Dive. 

The Strategic Energy Planning Track is designed for communities to follow a streamlined process 
that results in a roadmap outlining near- and long-term energy goals. The resulting plan and goals 
will be informed by ongoing engagement, workshops, and meetings with partners and community 
representatives. Each ETIPP community in the Strategic Energy Planning Track is provided funding 
to help support participation in meetings, provide informed feedback, support community 
member participation in technical assistance, procure consultant support, and/or buy equipment 
or infrastructure to work toward a final Strategic Energy Plan. 

2.0 OBJECTIVE 
The objective of this work effort is to partner with a ETIPP Cohort 5 Strategic Energy Planning 
Track community to support and engage community participation throughout the technical 
assistance effort including development and execution of a Strategic Energy Plan through final 
delivery and closeout. 

3.0 SCOPE OF WORK 
To meet the objective, the scope of the work the Subcontractor shall perform entails the 
following:  



 

 
3.1 The Subcontractor shall participate in development of the community Strategic 

Energy Plan. 
3.2 The Subcontractor shall engage with the national laboratory ETIPP team and their 

ETIPP Regional Partner in coordinating and leading community engagement 
efforts, including workshops in the community. 

3.3 The Subcontractor shall introduce the national laboratory ETIPP team and their 
ETIPP Regional Partner to local organizations as necessary (e.g., utility contacts, 
partner organizations). 

3.4 The Subcontractor shall provide responses to questionnaires to inform NREL of 
their energy knowledge, identify supportive training to fill in knowledge gaps, and 
provide feedback and lessons learned to the national laboratory ETIPP team 
about the program as requested. 

 
 
4.0 TASKS 
 

4.1 Task 1: Feedback – The Subcontractor shall provide feedback to NREL regarding 
current energy knowledge, training needs, feedback on programming, etc. as 
requested. 

4.2 Task 2: Community Events – The Subcontractor shall co-host in-person events 
(e.g., in-person workshops) to gather feedback on the energy vision, community 
strengths and challenges, and focus areas that will inform the community’s 
energy plan; brainstorm potential projects and draft initial goals reflective of the 
community’s values; engage with local organizations and community 
representatives as a part of these events to consider their input in the plan; and 
perform any other actions that will help gather data toward the Strategic Energy 
Plan. The Subcontractor shall ensure key community stakeholders are present. 

4.3 Task 3: Strategic Energy Plan – The Subcontractor shall provide input to drafts of 
the Strategic Energy Plan developed by the NREL ETIPP team and 
review/approve the final plan before delivering it to NREL. 

4.4 Task 4: Closeout – The Subcontractor shall complete and submit a short 
questionnaire regarding lessons learned and provide closeout points of contact 
to the Regional Partner and Regional Lead. 

 
 
5.0 REVIEW MEETINGS AND TRAVEL REQUIREMENTS  
 

Local travel is required to attend in-person workshops. 
• Workshop #1 

o Location: Within the Subcontractor’s community 
o Participants: National laboratory Technical Lead, Regional Partner, Community 

Energy Stakeholders 
 

 
 



 

6.0 DELIVERABLES 
 

The Subcontractor shall provide the following deliverables by the due date as indicated: 
 

Deliverable 
No. 

Associated 
Task(s) No. 

Deliverable Description Due Date 

6.1 4.1 Reporting: The Subcontractor shall 
complete and submit a short 
questionnaire to rank Subcontractor 
knowledge of their energy system and 
identify additional training topics that 
would be relevant and supportive to 
the community.  

Six (6) months 
following 
community kickoff 
meeting. 

6.2 4.2 In-Person Workshop:  Following the in-
person workshop, the Subcontractor 
shall deliver an attendee list for all 
community members that participated 
and a short summary (max of one [1] 
page) of key takeaways from the 
discussion.  

Six (6) months 
following 
community kickoff 
meeting. 

6.3 4.3 Final Strategic Energy Plan: The 
Subcontractor shall submit a final 
energy plan to NREL. 

10/31/2026 

6.4 4.4 Closeout: The Subcontractor shall 
complete and submit a short 
questionnaire to rank Subcontractor 
knowledge of their energy system and 
provide closeout points of contact to 
the Regional Partner and Regional Lead. 

10/31/2026 

 
 
DELIVERABLE ADDRESS: 
The Subcontractor shall clearly label all deliverables to include: 
• The subcontractor’s name 
• NREL’s subcontract number 
• NREL Technical Monitor’s name 
• Deliverable date, and 
• Deliverable description. 

 
Electronic deliverables shall be sent via email to the Technical Monitor as follows: 

Kelly O’Toole-Leonard, Technical Monitor 
 
e-mail: Kelly.OTooleLeonard@nrel.gov 

• One (1) master electronic version, including graphics 
 
 
 



 

 
DELIVERY OF DATA 
A copy of all data (as that term is defined in this Subcontract) first produced in the performance 
of this Subcontract is an additional deliverable of this Subcontract and shall be provided to the 
technical monitor as a condition of final payment, in accordance with the Subcontract. For all 
deliverables, make particular note of the requirements provided in the Rights in Data clause of 
this Subcontract regarding data not first produced in the performance of this Subcontract. 

 
7.0 ELECTRONIC REPORTING REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBCONTRACT REPORT DELIVERABLES 

It is NREL’s intention to publish subcontract report deliverables containing publicly available 
information (e.g. non-confidential, non-protected, non-proprietary information) for distribution 
on the internet. 

The subcontractor shall provide the final approved version of report deliverables in accordance 
with the electronic reporting requirements described below. 

The technical monitor may specifically direct the subcontractor to provide reports in one or more 
of the file format standards provided below:  

7.1 The subcontractor shall submit all report deliverables (including status, annual, or final 
reports) as electronic files in Adobe .pdf format, preferably with all graphics and images 
embedded within the document. 

 
7.2 All final approved version submissions shall be delivered to NREL via e-mail to the NREL 

Technical Monitor. 
 

7.3 If it is not possible to include all of the graphics and images (figures, illustrations, and 
photographs) in the same file as the text, NREL will accept the text in  Adobe .pdf formats 
and the graphics and images as separate electronic graphic or image files*.  

 

The accepted standard for page layout and graphics is the Adobe Creative Suite of programs.  

*The acceptable graphic or image file formats are: .eps, .tif, .gif, .jpg, .wmf, .emf, 
.pct, .png, .bmp, .psd, .ai, .fh, .qif, .fpx, cdr. The preferred resolution for graphics 
or images is 300 dpi. Include all fonts used in creating the file.  

7.4 For animation, video, or multi-media elements, CD-ROM, DVR and thumb drive are 
acceptable technical deliverable media. 

 
7.5 For all calculations in support of subcontract reports that are conducted in ASPEN+, an 

electronic copy of INPUT, REPORT and BACKUP (if Model Manager is used) must be 
submitted with all reports. Additionally, if costing or sizing calculations are conducted in a 
spreadsheet [no process calculations (heat and material balances) in spreadsheet format 
are permitted], a copy of the fully documented MS Excel file shall be supplied. 

 



 

7.6 A fully executed model release shall be supplied to NREL with all photographs and images, 
regardless of whether such photographs or images are delivered to NREL electronically or 
in hard copy. Such model release shall certify that the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC, 
Management and Operating Contractor for the National Renewable Energy Laboratory for 
the U.S. Department of Energy is granted a non-exclusive, paid-up, irrevocable, worldwide 
license to publish such photographs in any medium or reproduce such photographs or allow 
others to do so for United States Government purposes. Model releases are required in all 
situations in which a reasonable person would respond in the affirmative to the question – 
could someone, other than the model himself/herself, recognize the person in this 
photograph or image? All model releases shall be provided to the subcontract associate as 
a condition of final payment, in accordance with the subcontract. To obtain a Subcontractor 
Model Release form, please contact images@nrel.gov.  

 
8.0 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS IN SUBCONTRACTOR PUBLICATIONS 

In any scientific or technical report or article, conference paper, journal article, etc. based on or 
containing data first produced in the performance of this subcontract and published in academic, 
technical or professional journals, symposia proceedings or similar works, the subcontractor shall 
use this acknowledgement stating, “This [article, conference paper, journal article, etc.] was 
developed based upon funding from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory for the U.S. 
Department of Energy under Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308.” 

9.0 COPYRIGHT PERMISSION/AUTHORIZATIONS 
The subcontractor is responsible for obtaining copyright permissions and/or authorizations for all 
information and/or data, as applicable that is incorporated into all final technical reports. 
Electronic copies of these copyright permissions and/or authorizations shall be provided to the at 
the email address provided below. The subcontractor shall also provide a written certification to 
the Technical Monitor as to such permissions and/or authorizations as a condition of final 
payment. The subcontractor’s (including all lower tier subcontractors, as applicable) certification 
shall specify that “I have obtained all necessary and legally required copyright permissions and/or 
authorizations for any and all information, data, graphs, images, etc., as applicable, that is 
incorporated into the final Technical Report titled __________________________, delivered 
under this Subcontract No.__________. Copies of these permissions and/or authorizations are 
attached.” 

 

 
 

mailto:images@nrel.gov


City of Cedar Key 
Commission Meeting 
Agenda/Action Item 

Submitted By: Laura Roberts City Clerk 

Meeting Date: 11/18/2025  

Subject: Budget FY 24-25 Budget Amendment 

Discussion:   

Fiscal Impact: 

Attachments:  Exhibit A 

Possible Commission Action: Approve Resolution No. 503 - 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF CEDAR KEY, 
FLORIDA AMENDING THE 2024-2025 BUDGET TO INCREASE THE 
BUDGETED APPROPRIATIONS OF A FUND WITHIN THE CITY BUDGET



RESOLUTION NO. 503 

CITY BUDGET AMENDMENT 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR KEY, FLORIDA AMENDING THE 2024-

2025 BUDGET TO INCREASE THE BUDGETED 

APPROPRIATIONS OF A FUND WITHIN THE CITY 

BUDGET 

 

WHEREAS Fla. Stat. §166.241(2) provides that it is unlawful for any officer of the City to 

expend or contract for expenditures in any fiscal year except pursuant to the adopted budget; and 

WHEREAS Fla. Stat. 166.241(4)(c) allows a municipal governing body to amend its budget 

to increase the budgeted appropriations of a fund, using the same manner of adoption as the original 

budget; and 

WHEREAS, the City Commission has determined that the City’s budget should be amended 

in accordance with existing funds and to allocate funds to equity accounts for specific use or 

purposes. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR KEY, FLORIDA, as follows: 

1. The budget for the City for the fiscal year 2024-2025 is hereby amended as set forth 

in Exhibit "A", attached. 

2. The City Clerk shall post this adopted amendment on the City’s official website 

within 5 days after its adoption, as required by Fla. Stat. §166.241(5). 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS    DAY OF  , 2025. 

ATTEST: CITY OF CEDAR KEY, FLORIDA, 

 

Laura Roberts, City Clerk Jeffrey Webb, Mayor 

LEGAL REVIEW: 

 

Norm D. Fugate, City Attorney 



City of Cedar Key, Florida 
FY25 Final Budget Amendment 
11/11/2025 

 

 
Account Description Actual - Prelim Original Budget Amendment Final Budget 

 
To amend General Fund expenditure budget 

001-519.460 PWD - Equipment & Maintenance 40,490 11,000 30,000 41,000 
001-525.000 Emergency Management - Other 38,880 31,000 10,000 41,000 
001-525.462 Emergency Management Repairs & Maintenance 1,321,236 9,000 1,550,000 1,559,000 
001-525.650 Emergency Management Capital Outlay 19,066 10,000 10,000 20,000 
001-575.461 Marina Repairs & Maintenance 503,610 4,500 500,000 504,500 
001-590.990 Resilient Grant Project 185,000 140,633 50,000 190,633 
001-521.632 Police - DOF Grant Expenses 24,908 - 25,000 25,000 
001-541.461 PWD - Storm Pipe Cleaning 37,270 5,500 35,000 40,500 
001-575.460 Marina Equipment Repair 36,918 1,500 40,000 41,500 

 
To record balancing entry related to above items (General Fund) - revenues and reserves 

001-331.500 FEMA - Federal 2,515,705 - (1,300,000) (1,300,000) 
001-284.000 Fund Balance 1,388,545 - (950,000) (950,000) 

 
To amend CRA Fund budget      

101-920.000 Community Development Agency 1,093,829 795,862 430,000 1,225,862 

 
To record balancing entry related to above items (CRA Fund) 

101-284.000 Fund Balance 675,879 - (430,000) (430,000) 
 



City of Cedar Key 

Commission Meeting  

Agenda/Action Item 
 

 

Submitted By: Jeff Webb 
 
Meeting Date: 11/18/2025 

 
Subject: Insurance requirements for golf cart rentals (and other 

vehicles of transportation) 
 
Discussion: Current Cedar Key law has Liability insurance coverage 
*Minimum $300,000.00 per occurrence, combined single limit, for 
bodily injury, personal injury, and property damage. City of Cedar Key 
to be listed as additional insured. 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
Attachments: Cedar Key Law 6.02.0 Passenger Transport for Hire, 
Google search on Florida Statute requirements 
 
Possible Commission Action: Approval City of Cedar Key attorney to 
research, and submit for approval, modifications to current city law not 
to exceed requirements set forth in state statute for golf carts, bikes, e-
bikes, etc. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



CHAPTER TWO - GENERAL ORDINANCES 

ARTICLE VI. - TRANSPORTATION 
2-6.02.00. PASSENGER TRANSPORT FOR HIRE VEHICLES 

 

 

 

Cedar Key, Florida, Code of Ordinances     Created: 2024-03-28 11:07:35 [EST] 

(Republication) 

 
Page 1 of 2 

2-6.02.00. PASSENGER TRANSPORT FOR HIRE VEHICLES 

2-6.02.01. Definitions. 

Passenger transport for hire vehicle means any vehicle that is used for transporting passengers for hire, fee, 

or compensation of any kind, including compensation derived from tips or advertising, upon or along the streets 
within the City of Cedar Key. Examples of passenger transport for hire vehicles include, but are not limited to, 
taxicabs, bicycles, pedicabs, animal drawn carriages, golf carts and low speed vehicles.  

Rental vehicle means any vehicle that is rented on a short term basis for use by the person or persons renting 

the vehicle upon or along the streets within the City of Cedar Key. The term shall not include automobiles, campers 
or recreational vehicles. Examples of rental vehicles include, but are not limited to, bicycles, mopeds, motorcycles, 
motorized scooters, golf carts and low speed vehicles.  

Unless specifically defined in this ordinance, definitions of terms as set forth in F.S. tit. XXIII shall apply to 
terms contained in this ordinance.  

2-6.02.02. Regulations. 

No driver of a passenger transport for hire vehicle, (the vehicle), shall:  

A. Operate the vehicle without first registering with the City as a vehicle driver;  

B. Operate the vehicle while carrying a number of passengers that exceeds the number of passengers that 
the seats were designed to accommodate;  

C. Allow a passenger to stand in the vehicle while the vehicle is in motion;  

D. Collect fares while the vehicle is in motion;  

E. Solicit patrons in an attempt to divert patronage from another business;  

F. Operate the vehicle in a manner that results in damage to public property;  

G. Leave the vehicle unattended on a street or other publicly owned property at any time;  

H. Allow a passenger or anyone to sit anywhere other than the passenger seat within the vehicle;  

I. Obstruct vehicular traffic by stopping, standing or driving carelessly;  

J. Stop, stand, or load or unload passengers where parking and standing is prohibited;  

K. Operate the vehicle without having a communication device, such as a cell phone or radio, in the 
driver's possession;  

L. Operate the vehicle on bike paths, sidewalks, roadway shoulders, on SR 24, or any other location 

prohibited by Florida statutes.  

2-6.02.03. Safety Certificate. 

Prior to the issuance or renewal of any permit by the City pursuant to this ordinance, the applicant shall 

certify under oath on the application required to be filed pursuant to section 5 that the applicant has read the 
provisions contained in this article and agrees to comply with the terms and that each vehicle contains all of the 



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-03-28 11:07:35 [EST] 

(Republication) 

 
Page 2 of 2 

equipment necessary to be operated on the streets legally, including the equipment required by F.S. ch. 316, and is 
in safe operating condition. The City shall inspect all vehicles listed in the application for compliance with this 

standard, or, alternatively, the applicant may furnish a certificate from a qualified mechanic that the mechanic has 
inspected all of the vehicles, that the vehicles comply with this standard. At any time after issuance of the permit, 
based upon either observation by the City, or  by complaint filed with the City, any vehicle shall be subject to 
inspection by the City at any time, to determine compliance with these safety standards.  

2-6.02.02. Liability Insurance Coverage Required. 

A. No permit shall be issued or renewed by the City unless there is in force a Commercial General Liability 
Insurance policy with minimum amount of $300,000.00 per occurrence, combined single limit, for bodily 

injury, personal injury, and property damage. Such Liability Insurance policy shall specifically include the City 
as an additional insured and require each policy to be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be canceled 
by the applicant or carrier except after 30 days written notice sent via certified  mail, return receipt 
requested, to the City. It is the applicant's responsibility to ensure notice to the City in accordance with the 

above requirement is met.  

B. The applicant will provide the City with a certificate or certificates of insurance showing the existence of 
coverage as required and will, upon written request by the City, provide certified copies of all policies of 

insurance. New insurance certificates and, when requested in writing, certified copies of policies shall be 
provided to the City whenever any policy is renewed, revised, or obtained from other insurance carriers.   

 



Google Search (AI Mode) - What is the state statute for golf cart rental insurance in 
Florida? 

Florida law does not require insurance for standard golf carts operating on designated 
local roads. However, this changes if the vehicle is classified as a  Low-Speed Vehicle 
(LSV), which requires mandatory insurance coverage under state statutes.   

Standard Golf Carts vs. Low-Speed Vehicles (LSVs) 

The key distinction in Florida law hinges on the vehicle's maximum speed and equipment:  

Feature  Standard Golf Cart Low-Speed Vehicle (LSV) 

Top Speed Cannot exceed 20 mph Greater than 20 mph but not 
exceeding 25 mph 

Registration/Title Not required Required (must have VIN and be 
registered with FLHSMV) 

Insurance Not required by state law Required 

Where Allowed Designated local roads with speed 
limits of 30 mph or less 

Streets with speed limits of 35 mph 
or less 

Insurance Requirements for LSVs 

If a rental business operates LSVs (often referred to as "street legal golf carts"), the vehicles 
must be insured with minimum coverage that follows Florida's no-fault law, specified 
in Florida Statute § 324.021 and Florida Statute § 627.736. The required minimum 
coverage is:  

• $10,000 in Personal Injury Protection (PIP) 

• $10,000 in Property Damage Liability (PDL)  

Liability for Rental Businesses  

For rental agreements of less than one year, Florida Statutes provide specific liability limits 
for the lessor (rental company). Under Florida Statute § 324.021, the lessor is generally 
considered the owner for determining liability, up to a certain financial threshold (e.g., 



$100,000 per person for bodily injury). Many rental companies require the renter's personal 
auto insurance to be primary for covering damages, as permitted under Florida Statute § 
627.7263, and strongly recommend or require renters to carry full coverage auto 
insurance.  

Ultimately, while state law does not mandate insurance for conventional golf carts, a 
business renting them assumes significant liability risk without it, and an LSV rental legally 
requires specific insurance coverage. Businesses should consult the full text of relevant 
statutes on the Online Sunshine website and consult with a legal professional or insurance 
agent to ensure full compliance 

 

https://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0300-0399/0324/Sections/0324.021.html

	SOW - ETIPP Cohort 5 Strategic Energy Planning Subcontract SOW.pdf
	1.0 BACKGROUND
	2.0 OBJECTIVE
	3.0 SCOPE OF WORK
	4.0 TASKS
	4.1 Task 1: Feedback – The Subcontractor shall provide feedback to NREL regarding current energy knowledge, training needs, feedback on programming, etc. as requested.
	4.2 Task 2: Community Events – The Subcontractor shall co-host in-person events (e.g., in-person workshops) to gather feedback on the energy vision, community strengths and challenges, and focus areas that will inform the community’s energy plan; brai...

	5.0 REVIEW MEETINGS AND TRAVEL REQUIREMENTS
	6.0 DELIVERABLES
	Deliverable Address:
	7.0 ELECTRONIC REPORTING REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBCONTRACT REPORT DELIVERABLES
	7.1 The subcontractor shall submit all report deliverables (including status, annual, or final reports) as electronic files in Adobe .pdf format, preferably with all graphics and images embedded within the document.
	7.2 All final approved version submissions shall be delivered to NREL via e-mail to the NREL Technical Monitor.
	7.3 If it is not possible to include all of the graphics and images (figures, illustrations, and photographs) in the same file as the text, NREL will accept the text in  Adobe .pdf formats and the graphics and images as separate electronic graphic or ...
	7.4 For animation, video, or multi-media elements, CD-ROM, DVR and thumb drive are acceptable technical deliverable media.
	7.5 For all calculations in support of subcontract reports that are conducted in ASPEN+, an electronic copy of INPUT, REPORT and BACKUP (if Model Manager is used) must be submitted with all reports. Additionally, if costing or sizing calculations are ...
	7.6 A fully executed model release shall be supplied to NREL with all photographs and images, regardless of whether such photographs or images are delivered to NREL electronically or in hard copy. Such model release shall certify that the Alliance for...

	8.0 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS IN SUBCONTRACTOR PUBLICATIONS
	9.0 COPYRIGHT PERMISSION/AUTHORIZATIONS




